## **RECEIVED**

05-14-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS

### DISTRICT III

Case No. 2018AP412-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DUSTIN M. YANDA,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal From a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Circuit Court for Brown County, the Honorable Marc A. Hammer, Presiding.

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

SUSAN E. ALESIA Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1000752

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1774 alesias@opd.wi.gov

### **

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

In denying Mr. Yanda's postconviction motion, did the circuit court err as a matter of law by misapplying the "new factor" test?

The circuit court denied the sentence modification motion, holding "I am not satisfied that based on the fact that he was ultimately ineligible for these programs that it frustrated the purpose, the primary purpose of the Court's sentence." (60:10-11; App. 108-109).

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested. It is anticipated that the issue will be sufficiently addressed in the briefs. Publication is not warranted because the issue raised involves the application of established legal principles to the facts of this case.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Yanda and a friend were riding their motorcycles when the motorcycles collided. (2:3). As a result of this accident, Mr. Yanda suffered head trauma and was in a coma for over a week. (2:3; 56:19). Mr. Yanda's friend had a broken leg and ankle. (2:3-4). A blood draw revealed that Mr. Yanda's BAC at the time of the accident was .199 while his friend had a .02 BAC. (2:4-5).

The state filed a complaint charging Mr. Yanda with injury by intoxicated use of a vehicle in violation of Wis. Stat. § 940.25(1)(a); injury by use of a vehicle with prohibited alcohol concentration in violation of Wis. Stat.

§ 940.25(1)(b); operating a motor vehicle while revoked – causing great bodily harm in violation of Wis. Stat. § 343.44(1)(b) and (2)(ar)3; operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated, 4<sup>th</sup> offense in violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a); and operating with prohibited alcohol concentration, 4<sup>th</sup> offense in violation of Wis. Stat. § 343.63(1)(b). (2).

On March 30, 2017, Mr. Yanda entered a no-contest plea to injury by intoxicated use of a motor vehicle. (59:2). The parties presented a joint recommendation for 14 months initial confinement and 24 months extended supervision. (59:7, 12). The court rejected that joint recommendation, instead imposing 4 years initial confinement and 4 years extended supervision. (29). The court also made Mr. Yanda eligible for the Challenge Incarceration Program and the Earned Release Program. (59:16).

Mr. Yanda filed a motion for sentence modification based on a new factor on December 15, 2017. (37). In that motion, Mr. Yanda alleged that contrary to what the court assumed at sentencing, he was not statutorily eligible for either early release program. (37:1).

The court denied the motion at a hearing on February 2, 2018. (60:11; 41; App. 103, 109). The court held:

I would acknowledge I think it more reasonable than not to conclude that the factor presented in the brief and argued is a new factor, that he is statutorily ineligible for these programs, and at the time of sentence, the Court believed he was statutorily eligible.

The question is: Does it justify a sentence modification? Does it frustrate the purpose of the sentence?

(60:6; App. 104).

While recognizing that the sentence modification motion had merit and that "it was appropriate for defense counsel to ask for me to consider that" the court explained that its sentencing goal was not to ultimately reach the joint recommendation. (60:10-11; App. 108-109). It concluded "I am not satisfied that based on the fact that he was ultimately ineligible for these programs that it frustrated the purpose, the primary purpose of the Court's sentence." (60:10-11; App. 108-109).

Mr. Yanda challenges the circuit court's written order denying his postconviction motion on the basis that the court erred as a matter of law.

### **ARGUMENT**

The Circuit Court Erred as a Matter of Law in Denying Mr. Yanda's Motion for Sentence Modification By Misapplying the "New Factor" Test.

A new factor must be "highly relevant to the imposition of sentence." *State v. Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶¶36-37, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 828. Instead of evaluating whether the information presented by Mr. Yanda was highly relevant to the sentence, the circuit court instead analyzed whether the new factor frustrated the purpose of the sentence. (60:6, 10-11; App. 104, 108-109). Because the circuit court misapplied the law to the facts in Mr. Yanda's case, this court should remand for a new hearing on the postconviction motion where the circuit court can apply the proper standard.

The law regarding new factors and sentence modification is straightforward. Wisconsin courts have the inherent authority to modify a sentence. *Harbor*, 2011 WI 28,

¶35. A court may modify a sentence based on the defendant's showing of a "new factor." *Id.* "Deciding a motion for sentence modification based on a new factor is a two-step inquiry." *Id.*, ¶36. First, the defendant must demonstrate the existence of a new factor by clear and convincing evidence. *Id.*, ¶¶36-37. A "new factor" is "a fact or set of facts highly relevant to the imposition of sentence, but not known to the trial judge at the time of original sentencing, either because it was not then in existence or because, even though it was then in existence, it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties." *Id.*, ¶40. Second, "if a new factor is present, the circuit court determines whether that new factor justifies modification of the sentence." *Id.*, ¶37.

Whether a fact or set of facts constitutes a new factor is a question of law reviewed independently. *Harbor*, 2011 WI 28 at ¶33. The determination of whether a new factor warrants sentence modification is reviewed for an erroneous exercise of discretion. *Id*. Because Mr. Yanda's case raises the question of whether the court misapplied the new factor law, this case presents a question of law to be reviewed de novo. *Barber v. Nylund*, 158 Wis. 2d 192, 195, 461 N.W.2d 809 (Ct. App. 1990).

The first step in the new factor test was articulated in *Rosado v. State*, 70 Wis. 2d 280, 288, 234 N.W.2d 69 (1975). The *Rosado* decision held that the defendant must show the new facts were "highly relevant" to the sentence. However, in *State v. Michels*, 150 Wis. 2d 94, 441 N.W.2d 278 (Ct. App. 1989), this court added the additional requirement that the new facts must also "frustrate the purpose" of the sentence. This led to confusion and inconsistencies in the case law.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court addressed this issue in *Harbor* and held "the frustration of the purpose of the

original sentence is not an independent requirement when determining whether a fact or set of facts alleged by a defendant constitutes a new factor." *Harbor*, 2011 WI 28 at ¶48. The court's ruling was clear: "we conclude that the definition set forth in *Rosado* is the correct definition of a 'new factor' for purposes of sentence modification. We withdraw any language from *Michels* and the cases following *Michels* that suggest an additional requirement that an alleged new factor must also frustrate the purpose of the original sentence." *Id.*, ¶52.

Mr. Yanda alleged a single new factor. He pled to injury by intoxicated use of a motor vehicle and the parties offered a joint recommendation of 14 months initial confinement and 24 months extended supervision. (59:7, 12). The court rejected that joint recommendation, instead imposing 4 years initial confinement and 4 years extended supervision. (29; App. 101). However, the court made Mr. Yanda eligible for two early release programs: Challenge Incarceration and Earned Release. (59:16). The court told Mr. Yanda "my goal is that you participate in these programs..." (59:16). Successful completion of either of these programs would have resulted in Mr. Yanda serving less than the 4 years of initial confinement.

What the circuit court did not know or understand at the time of sentencing was that because Mr. Yanda pled to an offense under Wis. Stat. Chapter 940 (Wis. Stat. § 940.25(1)(a)), he was statutorily ineligible for both the Challenge Incarceration Program and the Earned Release Program. Wis. Stat. §§ 302.045(2)(c) and 302.05(3)(a)1.

On postconviction, Mr. Yanda argued that his statutory ineligibility for these programs was a new factor warranting sentence modification. (37). The court appeared to agree that

the first part of the new factor test was met, stating "I would acknowledge I think it more reasonable than not to conclude that the factor presented in the brief and argued is a new factor, that he is statutorily ineligible for these programs, and at the time of sentence, the Court believed he was statutorily eligible." (60:6; App. 104).

Immediately after the court's statement that it was "more reasonable than not to conclude that the factor presented in the brief and argued is a new factor" the court declared "The question is: Does it justify a sentence modification? Does it frustrate the purpose of the sentence?" (60:6; App. 104). Later, the court repeated its reliance on the "frustrate the purpose" standard, stating "I am not satisfied that based on the fact that he was ultimately ineligible for these programs that it frustrated the purpose, the primary purpose of the Court's sentence." (60:10-11; App. 108-109).

This analysis does not comport with Wisconsin's two-step inquiry for sentence modification. *Harbor*, 2011 WI 28 at ¶¶36-37. On the one hand, it appears that by stating it was "more reasonable than not to conclude that the factor presented in the brief and argued is a new factor" that Mr. Yanda met his burden on the first part of the test. However, the court then twice inserted an analysis of whether the new information frustrated the purpose of the sentence. (60:6, 11; App. 104, 109). As explained above, the court in *Harbor* eliminated the "frustrate the purpose" analysis.

Although it is not clear what test the court applied, there are two possibilities. First, the court improperly applied the "frustrate the purpose" analysis to the first step of the new factor test directly contrary to *Harbor*. Second, the court applied the "frustrate the purpose" analysis to the second step, believing that in order to determine whether a new factor

justifies modification of the sentence the court must believe the new factor frustrates the purpose of the sentence.

Either way, in denying Mr. Yanda postconviction relief, the circuit court did not apply the proper two-part test for sentence modification set forth in *Harbor*. The result was a misapplication of that test, and Mr. Yanda is left guessing what might have been had the court applied the correct legal standard to the facts of this case. As a result, a remand is necessary for the court to determine whether the new factor evidence warrants sentence modification.

### **CONCLUSION**

Because the circuit court erred as a matter of law in denying Mr. Yanda's motion for sentence modification, this court should reverse the denial of Mr. Yanda's postconviction motion and remand the case to the circuit court for a determination of whether the new factor evidence warrants sentence modification.