RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 07-27-2018

COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN** DISTRICT III

Case No. 2018AP412-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DUSTIN M. YANDA,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR SENTENCE MODIFICATION, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR BROWN COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MARC A. HAMMER. PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Dustin M. Yanda moved for modification of his sentence on the ground that the sentencing court made him eligible for the Challenge Incarceration Program and the Substance Abuse Program even though his conviction for injury by intoxicated use of a motor vehicle made him statutorily ineligible for the programs. The circuit court denied Yanda's motion, concluding that his ineligibility for the programs does not warrant sentence modification. Did the circuit court misapply the new factor test because it also considered whether Yanda's ineligibility for the programs frustrated the purpose of the sentence?

The circuit court did not answer.

This Court should answer "no," and affirm the circuit court order denying Yanda's motion for sentence modification.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The plaintiff-respondent, State of Wisconsin, does not request oral argument or publication.

INTRODUCTION

When it sentenced Yanda, the circuit court imposed a sentence longer than the parties jointly recommended, and made him eligible for the Challenge Incarceration Program (CIP) and the Substance Abuse Program (SAP). But Yanda's conviction for injury by intoxicated use of a motor vehicle made him statutorily ineligible for the programs. Yanda sought sentence modification, asserting that his ineligibility for the programs is a new factor warranting sentence modification. The circuit court denied Yanda's motion, and explained that its primary considerations in imposing sentence were Yanda's dangerous behavior and his criminal record. The court also mentioned that Yanda's statutory ineligibility for the programs did not frustrate the purpose of the sentence.

On appeal, Yanda asserts that the circuit court misapplied the new factor test by considering whether his ineligibility for the programs frustrated the purpose of the sentence. He seeks remand to the circuit court for it to determine again whether he has shown a new factor warranting sentence modification.

Remand is unnecessary and unwarranted because the circuit court applied the correct legal standard in denying Yanda's motion. The court explained that it did not condition the sentence on eligibility for the CIP or SAP, and that his ineligibility for those programs did not warrant sentence modification. It then added that Yanda's ineligibility did not frustrate the purpose of the sentence. Yanda seems to argue that by considering whether Yanda's ineligibility for the programs frustrated the purpose of the sentence, the court acted contrary to State v. Harbor, 2011 WI 28, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 828. But Harbor only provides that frustration of the purpose of the sentence is not a separate criterion that a defendant must satisfy in order to be entitled to sentence modification. It does not prohibit a court from considering whether a fact frustrates the purpose of the sentence. The court properly denied Yanda's motion, and this Court should affirm.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Yanda and his friend were operating motorcycles when they collided, throwing both riders from their motorcycles. (R. 2:3–4.) Yanda's friend broke his leg and ankle, and his lung collapsed. (R. 2:4.) Yanda broke his finger and suffered facial and head trauma. (R. 2:3.) Yanda's blood was drawn, and analysis of his blood indicated a blood alcohol concentration of 0.199. (R. 2:3, 5.) The State charged Yanda with five crimes: causing injury by intoxicated use of a motor vehicle; causing injury by operation of a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration; causing great bodily harm by operating a motor vehicle with a revoked operating privilege; operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant as a fourth offense; and operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration as a fourth offense. (R. 2:1– 2.).¹

The State and Yanda reached a plea agreement under which Yanda pled no contest to causing injury by intoxicated use of a motor vehicle, and the remaining four charges were dismissed. (R. 59:2–3.) Yanda faced a maximum sentence of 12 years and six months of imprisonment, including seven years and six months of initial confinement. (R. 2:1; 59:5.) The parties jointly recommended a sentence of 14 months of initial confinement and 24 months of extended supervision. (R. 59:7.)

The circuit court, the Honorable Marc A. Hammer, accepted Yanda's plea, and imposed sentence. (R. 59:6, 16.) The court noted that Yanda had committed a "fairly high level felony offense." (R. 59:13.) It observed that Yanda's character was of "significant concern." (R. 59:14.) It noted that Yanda had a "fairly significant criminal record," and that when he committed his current offense, his operating privilege was revoked and he had an interlock ignition device restriction. (R. 59:14.) The court also noted that Yanda could not legally drive with a blood alcohol concentration above .02. (R. 59:15.) The court also noted that Yanda drove drunk again after he committed this offense. (R. 59:15.)

¹ The injury by use of a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration, causing great bodily harm after revocation, and OWI charges were read in at sentencing. The operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration charges was dismissed outright. (R. 29.)

The court concluded that the joint recommendation did not address the sentencing factors, so it imposed a sentence in excess of the recommendation. (R. 59:16.) The court imposed four years of initial confinement and four years of extended supervision. (R. 59:16.) The court also made Yanda eligible for the CIP and the SAP, stating, "My goal is that you participate in those programs because I think you desperately need those programs before you can return to our community." (R. 59:16.)²

Yanda moved for sentence modification, pointing out that because he was convicted of a crime in Chapter 940, he is statutorily ineligible for the CIP and SAP. (R. 37.)³ He asserted that his alcohol abuse was the focus of the parties' sentencing arguments, and that his ineligibility for the CIP and SAP is a new factor warranting sentence modification. (R. 37:2.) He sought sentence modification "so he can obtain treatment while on extended supervision." (R. 37:3.)

The circuit court denied Yanda's motion, concluding that even if Yanda's ineligibility for the CIP and SAP was a new factor, it did not warrant sentence modification. (R. 41; 60:11.) The court noted that neither party made a recommendation regarding the CIP or SAP. (R. 60:8.) The court explained the factors it considered at sentencing, and stated that the "principle concerns of the Court were the extremely dangerous behavior that the defendant had engaged in and continued to engage in by allegation his abysmal criminal record and the actions that caused injury to an identifiable victim." (R. 60:10.) The court concluded that Yanda's ineligibility for the CIP and SAP did not frustrate the

 $^{^2}$ The court referred to the CIP and the ERP. The SAP was formerly known as the Earned Release Program (ERP).

³Wisconsin Stat. §§ 302.045(2)(c) and 302.05(3)(a)1., provide that a person convicted of a crime in Chapter 940 is ineligible for either program.

primary purpose of the sentence, and that it "was not a factor that would justify sentence modification." (R. 60:11.)

Yanda now appeals.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether facts presented constitute a new factor is a question of law, reviewed independently. *Harbor*, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶ 33. "The determination of whether that new factor justifies sentence modification is committed to the discretion of the circuit court," and is reviewed "for erroneous exercise of discretion." *Id.*

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly denied Yanda's motion for sentence modification.

A. Applicable legal principles

A circuit court may modify a defendant's sentence upon a showing of a new factor. *Harbor*, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶ 35. A new factor consists of facts "highly relevant to the imposition of sentence, but not known to the trial judge at the time of original sentencing, either because it was not then in existence or because, even though it was then in existence, it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties." Id. ¶ 40 70 Wis. (quoting Rosadov. State. 2d280.288.234 N.W.2d 69 (1975)).

A defendant seeking sentence modification "must demonstrate both the existence of a new factor and that the new factor justifies modification of the sentence." *Harbor*, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶ 38. A defendant who asserts that a new factor warrants sentence modification "has the burden to demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence the existence of a new factor." *Id.* ¶ 36 (citing *State v. Franklin*, 148 Wis. 2d 1, 8–9, 434 N.W.2d 609 (1989)).

In order to demonstrate that a fact is a new factor warranting sentence modification, "frustration of the purpose of the sentence is not an independent requirement" that a defendant must satisfy. Id. ¶ 48. As the Supreme Court of Wisconsin explained in *Harbor*, when a fact does frustrate the purpose of the sentence, which includes "the protection of the community, punishment of the defendant, rehabilitation of the defendant, and deterrence to others," it is likely that the fact is a new factor. Id. ¶ 49. But a fact may be a new factor even if it does not frustrate the purpose of the sentence. Id. ¶ 50. The supreme court reasoned that "[a] circuit court might conclude that its entire approach to sentencing would have been different had it been aware of a fact that is 'highly relevant to the imposition of sentence." Id. It added that "the court may not be able to conclude that the new fact, which would have changed its entire approach to sentencing, necessarily frustrates the purpose of the original sentence it imposed." Id.

B. The circuit court properly concluded that even if Yanda's ineligibility for the CIP and SAP is a new factor, it does not warrant sentence modification.

The circuit court concluded that that it is "more reasonable than not" that Yanda's statutory ineligibility for the CIP and SAP is a new factor. (R. 60:6.) But the court concluded Yanda's ineligibility does not justify sentence modification. (R. 60:11.)

The State does not dispute that Yanda's statutory ineligibility for the CIP and SAP is a new factor. The court assumed that Yanda was statutorily eligible for the programs, and there is nothing in the record suggesting that either the State or the defense realized that Yanda was ineligible. But the circuit court correctly concluded that Yanda's ineligibility does not warrant sentence modification.

On appeal, Yanda does not argue that the circuit court was incorrect in concluding that his ineligibility for the CIP and SAP does not warrant sentence modification. Instead, he argues that the court reached that conclusion through a misapplication of the new factor tests. (Yanda's Br. 3.) Yanda seems to argue that by considering whether Yanda's ineligibility for the programs frustrated the purpose of the sentence, the court acted contrary to *Harbor*. (Yanda's Br. 6.) But *Harbor* only prohibits a court from making frustration of the purpose of the sentence a separate criterion or "independent requirement" that a defendant must satisfy in order to be entitled to sentence modification. Harbor, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶ 48. It does not prohibit a court from considering whether a fact frustrates the purpose of the sentence when it is considering whether the fact warrants sentence modification.

Yanda asserts that the court erred by applying the "frustrates the purpose" analysis in determining whether he demonstrated a new factor warranting sentence modification. He argues that it is possible that the court applied the "frustrates the purpose" analysis in determining the first criterion under the new factor test—that his ineligibility for the CIP and SAP is a new factor. (Yanda's Br. 6.)

As explained above, the court could properly have considered whether Yanda's ineligibility for the CIP and SAP frustrated the purpose of the sentence in deciding whether his ineligibility was a new factor. A court is prohibited only from making frustration of the purpose of the sentence an independent requirement a defendant must satisfy. But even if a court could not consider whether a fact frustrates the purpose of the sentence, Yanda would not be entitled to relief. Yanda points to nothing in the record indicating that the court considered whether his ineligibility for the programs frustrated the purpose of the sentence when it determined whether his ineligibility is a new factor. And even if the court had considered frustration of the purpose of the sentence, it would make no difference because, as Yanda acknowledges, the court at least implicitly concluded that Yanda's ineligibility is a new factor. (Yanda's Br. 5–6.)

Yanda argues that it is also possible that the court applied the "frustrates the purpose" analysis to the second part of the new factor test, "believing that in order to determine whether a new factor justifies modification of the sentence the court must believe the new factor frustrates the purpose of the sentence." (Yanda's Br. 6–7.)

Again, under *Harbor*, a court is prohibited only from making frustration of the purpose of the sentence an independent requirement that a defendant must satisfy to prevail on a motion for sentence modification. *Harbor*, 333 Wis. 2d 53. ¶ 48. Here, the circuit court's explanation of its decision to deny Yanda's motion for sentence modification demonstrates that the court did not deny the motion on the basis of Yanda's ineligibility not frustrating the purpose of the sentence. Instead, the court properly considered that Yanda's ineligibility did not warrant sentence modification, and added that it also did not frustrate the purpose of the sentence.

After the court stated that it is "more reasonable than not" that Yanda's ineligibility for the CIP and SAP is a new factor, it stated, "The question is: Does it justify a sentence modification? Does it frustrate the purpose of the sentence?" (R. 60:6.) The court said that "in order to determine that," it had "to look at the basis for the sentence." (R. 60:6.)

The court reiterated its considerations at sentencing, specifically that this was "a fairly high level felony offense," that Yanda had a "significant record." (R. 60:7–8.) It noted that Yanda disregarded the ignition interlock device restriction and the .02 restriction, and that even after the crash that left him and his friend injured, he again drove after drinking (R. 60:8–9.) The court concluded that "there was a clear need to protect the public," so it rejected the joint recommendation, (R. 60:9–10.) The court explained that it made Yanda eligible for the CIP and SAP because it concluded that the community would benefit if he underwent treatment in those programs, but that it did not know whether he would benefit. (R. 60:10.)

The court clarified that it did not make Yanda eligible for the CIP and SAP "to in some way ultimately reach the joint recommendation that was presented by counsel," adding "that clearly wasn't the concern," and "it wasn't the intent of the court." (R. 60:10.) The court said that if Yanda could benefit from the programs, "that's fine, and I wouldn't bar him from participating in the programs, but it was not the motivating factor in deeming him eligible." (R. 60:11.)

The court said again that its "princip[al] concerns" were Yanda's "extremely dangerous behavior," his "abysmal criminal record," and his "actions that caused injury to an identifiable victim." (R. 60:10.) The court added that it was "not satisfied that based on the fact that he was ultimately ineligible for these programs that it frustrated the purpose, the primary purpose of the Court's sentence." (R. 60:10–11.)

As the bulk of the court's remarks demonstrate, eligibility for the CIP and SAP was not even an important factor in the court's sentencing calculus. And for good reason. A person can participate in the CIP or SAP only if the sentencing court makes the person eligible for one or both of the programs. Wis. Stat. §§ 302.045(2)(cm), 304.05(3)(a)2. But a court's determination of eligibility does not guarantee that a person will be placed into either program. Whether a person is actually enrolled in either program is determined by the Department of Corrections. All the court can do is make a person eligible, leaving enrollment in the hands of the department, or make the person ineligible, precluding the department from enrolling the person in either program. In *Harbor*, the supreme court stated that the purpose of sentence modification is "the correction of unjust sentences," and "to allow a circuit court discretion to modify sentences in an appropriate case." *Harbor*, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶ 51.

Here, the circuit court, which imposed sentence, explained why it imposed the sentence and clarified that it did not impose a longer sentence because it made Yanda eligible for the programs. The court imposed the sentence it believed Yanda's conduct warranted, and it also made him eligible for the CIP and SAP in order to protect the public. As the court concluded, sentence modification because Yanda was statutorily ineligible for the programs was therefore unwarranted. Remand in this case would not be for the court to correct an unjust sentence. It would be only for the court to make the same decision it made, again stating that Yanda's ineligibility for the CIP and SAP would not have mattered at sentencing, but without mentioning that his ineligibility also did not frustrate the purpose of the sentence.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons explained above, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm the judgment of conviction and the order denying Yanda's motion for sentence modification.